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Introduction   

Ossett Spa Mill is situated on Spa Lane in South Ossett.  The area in which the Mill is located is 

known as Ossett Spa deriving its name from the Spa waters that are said to be common thereabouts. 

For the purpose of this study The Spa is that area which is bordered on the north by Manor Road, on 

the west by Spa Lane on the east by the M1 and on the south by the Horbury/Ossett  Parish 

boundary.  By way of context, this research also includes the area adjacent to The Spa just beyond 

Manor Road to the north and once known, albeit briefly, as Little Harrogate and Montpelier Gardens 

The extension of the research of Spa Mills to include the whole of Ossett Spa will provide some 

context for the history and development of Spa Lane and Ossett Spa Mills which is the main subject 

of this study. The area referred to in what follows is shown in the following map from 1890 
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  Ossett Spa in Maps 1770-1933 

There is an early map, Jefferies of about 1767/70, which shows  a windmill and an engine  in the 
vicinity of Ossett Spa, though it would not have been known by this name in 1767. This map is shown 
below but as the reader will note its scale leaves something to be desired in the context of detailed 
research. Nevertheless the symbols in the map are in the area of the Spa, as can be seen by the 
Ossett/Horbury boundary stream running east to west just below the symbols. The fact that they 
appear on the map indicate their importance at the time. They would be significant developments 
and landmarks in the 18th Century and there is more reference to this later. 

          

          Jefferies Map 1767/1770 showing Engine and Windmill in the area of Ossett Spa 
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Maps of suitable scale to assist detailed research did not really emerge until 1850 but in 
2008 Richard Glover published his book άaŜŘƛŜǾŀƭ and Post Medieval Landscape of Ossett 
¢ƻǿƴǎƘƛǇέ which includes a map of Ossett showing key routes through the Township and 
the southern section of this map, which includes the Spa area, is shown overleaf.  

The map shows the area of Ossett Spa in the south east corner of Ossett Township located  
in an area once known as Ossett Lights and bordering Horbury Lights and Thornes. The 
following extracts ŦǊƻƳ aǊ DƭƻǾŜǊΩǎ ōƻƻƪ tell something of the earlier history of the locality 
which will explain why it was probable that there was little development in the Spa area 
much earlier than the 18th century.  

Ossett was just one of 57 townships in the Manor of Wakefield which stretched intermittently 

from the Lancashire border in the west to Normanton in the east. The manorial system had been 

introduced into England by the Anglo-Saxons and was well established by Norman times. The 

earliest known records of Ossett appear in the Norman commissioned Domesday Book of 1086.  

This survey tells us a considerable amount about the landscape and states that there were 31/2 

carucates of arable land in Ossett township, which was anything between 10% - 20% of the 

total area. This was estimated to be ploughed with two teams of eight oxen and would probably 

be worked in the immediate area of both Ossett and Gawthorpe and of the outlying homesteads. 

This can be seen on the map from the fields adjacent to the centre of the settlements. 

The population of the township in 1086 was stated as seven families, 4 villeins and 3 

bordars, making a total of 35 or more, but would also have a number of 'servants' not included in the 

survey, who would work the land and help manage the woodlands. This was a small 

community for such a large area of land, some of it being retained by the lord which did not feed 

the peasants. 

 

The Domesday Book also tells us that the township of Ossett had 'half a league of woodland 

pasture and as much broad', possibly as little as 10% of the total area, if we can take the boundaries 

to be the same as in the 14th century. There were other areas of trees, copses (haggs - coppice 

with palings to prevent animal entry), with some trees left as standard and small woods such as 

Owld Shaw and many trees around the field edges left before they were cleared that did not appear 

on the survey. So we can see the great majori ty of woodland had been cleared well before 1086. 

What was left was well managed. 

 

The term woodland pasture refers to the type of land management that combined the growing 

of trees with the grazing of stock. The animals fed on the grass and plants, browsed the leaves and 

foraged for acorns and beech nuts. The trees were often pollarded above the animal height. New 

branches would replace the cut ones which allowed sunlight down to the woodland floor giving rise 

to the name 'the Lights' . Ossett Lights with a total 254 acres [4] (103 hectares) was typical of this 

common land. 

 

The commoners (villagers) were granted rights of pasture for pigs and general rights to collect 

small wood for fuel, fencing and buildings. Any mineral rights stayed with the lord of the manor. 

These customs went back well before the Norman Conquest and lasted in Ossett Lights almost 

entirely until after the Enclosure Act of 1807 except for a number of small enclosures made in the 

17th and 18th centuries. By 1709 The Lights had ten tenants for houses and small areas of land and 

one colliery. 
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Medieval and Post Medieval Landscape of Ossett Town Map (part). Richard Glover 2008 
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The earliest map showing The Spa in any detail is the Manor of Wakefield Estate map of about 1790 

when the area was shown as a part of Ossett Common. This map όōŜƭƻǿύ ǎƘƻǿǎ ŀ άwƻǳƴŘ IƻǳǎŜέ ǘƻ 

the west of the area of this study and ŀ ά{ǘŜŀƳ 9ƴƎƛƴŜέ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŜŀǎǘΦ  The wavy line towards the 

bottom of the map is a stream (which still exists in 2010) and this was also the boundary between 

the administrative districts of Horbury and Ossett.  

 

 

 

To assist the reader in the interpretation of the map the top right hand corner is Haggs Hill Road of 

today (2010).  Directly below is a large irregular rectangular enclosure which was known (1813) as 

Paupers Park. This is shown as Field number 176 on the 1890 map and is situated to the south west  

of the junction of  Manor Road and Spa Street. An early reference to Paupers Park is in the Ossett 

Inclosure Order 1813 when  the ownership of the park is in the name of the Overseers of the Poor of 

Ossett.  
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Immediately below PaupersΩ Park is a small enclosure including a building. In this research this 

building is referred to as Whinfield House or Whinfield Place, situated today to the west of Whinfield 

Terrace. The house may have become the home of Edward Dews sometƛƳŜ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŜŀǊƭȅ муслΩǎ. 

Dews, one time grocer, was the builder of Whinfield Terrace, Dews Row (opposite The Fleece) and 

he was the owner of Spa Mills from about 1865 until his death in 1890 when his sons Ezra and 

Frederick took over the  business. The Dews family also had interests in other land on the Spa and 

also in the Fleece and The Spa public houses but more of this later. 

Directly to the east of Whinfield House, on the 1790 map, is a small enclosure with two buildings one 

of which is likely to be The Fleece though records do not show this to have been a beer house in 

1790. Adjacent and to the north of The Fleece  is another building which is situated where Ginns 

(Hope) Mill was to be located some time later. To the north of this is another enclosure again with a 

building. This is immediately to the east of PaupersΩ Park and today it is home to an old single storey 

ǿƻǊƪŜǊΩǎ ŎƻǘǘŀƎŜ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ now (2010) converted to a stable. 

The features described above still exist today (2010) ŀƴŘ ǿƛǘƘ 9ƳƳŜǊǎƻƴΩǎ aƛƭƭ and the Round House 

they may have been the only evidence of occupation here in the 18th century. 

A Steam Engine is shown to the south east of Paupers Park and this would have been situated at 

9ƳƳŜǊǎƻƴΩǎ aƛƭƭ όƴƻǿ ƪƴƻǿƴ ŀǎ {ǇǊƛƴƎŦƛŜƭŘ aƛƭƭύΦ ¢ƘŜ ƘƛǎǘƻǊȅ ƻŦ ǘƘƛǎ aƛƭƭ ƛǎ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜŘ ƭŀǘŜǊ ƛƴ ǘƘƛǎ 

study. A second Steam Engine is shown just across the Horbury boundary. The Round House shown 

in the 1790 map above can also be seen in the 1890 map shown earlier. Reference to that map 

shows a small round feature at where Field number 82 abuts Field number 86. 

Medieval and Post Medieval Landscape of Ossett (Richard Glover 2008) describes this Round House 
as follows; 

άThis would have been a stone or brick structure....... and would probably have been built in the 
early 18th Century. This mill was called a round house and the field name Whynn(Whim) Ginn 
(windmill engine) in the 1843 Tithe Award (By this time the mill was not in use)The mill would 
possibly have been used for pumping water for the colliery of William Naylor, mentioned in the 
1709 Wakefield Manor book. The name remains today as (nearby) Whinfield TerraceΦέ 

bƻǘǿƛǘƘǎǘŀƴŘƛƴƎ ŀ ǇƻǎǎƛōƭŜ ŀƭǘŜǊƴŀǘƛǾŜ ƳŜŀƴƛƴƎ ƻŦ ά²Ƙƛƴέ ŀǎ ŀƴƻǘƘŜǊ ƴŀƳŜ ŦƻǊ ƎƻǊǎŜ όWŜƴƴƛƴƎǎ 
Cyclopedia 1821) the 1843 Tithe Award referred to ƛƴ wƛŎƘŀǊŘ DƭƻǾŜǊΩs book above includes the field 
ƴŀƳŜ ά²Ƙȅƴƴ Dȅƴέ ŦƻǊ ǘƘǊŜŜ ŦƛŜƭŘǎ ǿƘƛŎƘ are adjacent. The Tithe Award map is not reproduced in 
this research but the three fields with this description are shown on the 1890 map as fields 86, 64 
and 63. These fields include, or are adjacent to, the Round House feature shown in the map. 

Research in 2010 suggests that the Round House could have been a structure built to drive a pump 
to drain water from coal seams below. If so it is likely that it was associated with ά! ŎƻƭƛŜǊȅ ƻƴ ŀ 
Comon( called Lights in Osset  farmed by Joseph Naylor p(er) Lease under the yearly rent of 10s" as 
mentioned in the 1709 Manor Book. Directly to the east of the Round House site are 3 fields called 
Drain Close in the 1843 Tithe Award. This area has ǘƘŜ ƴŀƳŜ άhǎǎŜǘǘ /ƻƳƳƻƴ 5Ǌŀƛƴέ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ мулт 
Inclosure Order. These names suggest that ,if there was a small colliery here, then it would have 
required pumping mechanisms to remove water.  
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The next map to show the Spa area is  the Ossett Inclosure Act of 1807 and the consequent Inclosure 
Order (and map) of 1813. The Act was sponsored by most of the major landowners in Ossett with 
the objective of replacing the strip farming of land with enclosed fields (enclosures) which were a 
more economic and efficient method of farming. The outcome was a major shake up of land 
ownership in Ossett with those with land getting more and the Order signalled the end of strip 
farming and the use of common land for grazing and cropping by those who were less well off. The 
Act and Order had particular effect on South Ossett for there was much common land here. Thus the 
descriptions of areas in South Ossett such as Low Common (broadly the land bounded by South 
Parade, Manor Road and Teall Street), Ossett Middle Common( broadly Park Square/ Giggal Hill 
area) and adjacent areas denoted by the description Commonside and Common End. The whole was 
known as Ossett Common as shown in the earlier 1790 Wakefield Manor Estate map.  

The 1813 Order detailed land ownerships, including land allotted in the Inclosure Order, and also 
described the width and names of roads and the responsibilities attaching to land owners in terms of 
maintenance of fencing, hedging, streams, wells and so on. In so far as The Spa is concerned Spa 
Lane at that time was known as Emmerson Mill Road (because the road provided access to 
9ƳƳŜǊǎƻƴΩǎ aƛƭƭ ς now Springfield Mill). Spa Street is called Horbury Road (sometimes Ossett and 
Horbury Road) and Manor Road/Baptist Lane is recorded as Wakefield Bridle Road.  The map of the 
Order is large and the original copy can be difficult to read but a copy of the relevant parts of the 
map is reproduced overleaf . Land allotments and sizes (in Acres- Roods-Perches) are shown in the 
maps. 

!ƴ ŜȄŀƳƛƴŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ άƳŀǇǎέ ƛƴ ¢ƘŜ LƴŎƭƻǎǳǊŜ hǊŘŜǊ ǎƘƻǿǎ that in 1813 John and David Emmerson  
owned much of the land to the east of Spa Street including John EmmersonΩǎ Mill (now Springfield 
Mill). He also owned  land up to and including land and premises where the The Fleece public house 
now stands. Adjacent to this stands David EmmersonΩǎ ownership where Ginns Mill stood. In the 
1890 map this Mill was known as Hope Mill. Later in this study there is more about The Fleece and 
GinnΩǎ aƛƭƭ. Other ownerships on this side of Spa Street include Mark Scott who was a descendant of 
the Scotts of Scotts Yard on Giggle Hill and the Wilby family who were also of Giggle Hill and Low 
Common. 

 The 1813 Inclosure Order map also shows PaupersΩ Park (dark shaded) and land ownerships in the 
name of William Naylor including land opposite The Fleece where Whinfield Terrace now stands. 
Naylor also has ownerships to the south of Spa Lane (Emmerson Mill Road on the map). It  appears 
that William Craven owned the land on which (one of) the Spa baths was built and  he also owned 
the land where Spa Mill  was  to be built some time later. Craven and Naylor owned most of the rest 
of the land on the south side of Emmerson Mill Road (Spa Lane) except for a small strip owned by  
Reverend Minister  Matthew Dixon and by John Burdekin and others at the end of Spa Lane before it 
turned right and headed north towards Manor Road. The Burdekins of course are still well known in 
Ossett and even 200 years ago they were basket makers. To the west of Burdekins are two very 
narrow strips of land  one of which was allotted to Timothy Lee (subsequently named Timothy Lee 
Croft) and the other to Andrew Pilkington. There is more about the Timothy Lee holding later in this 
study. 

 

 

                     

 



11 

 

                        Ossett Inclosure Order 1813 ς Map(part) showing Ossett Spa Street   

                  

tŀǳǇŜǊǎΩtŀǊƪ ƛǎ ǎƘƻǿƴ (dark shaded) at the top of the map at the south west of the junction 
between Horbury Road (now Spa Street) and Wakefield Bridle Road (Manor Road). Emmerson Mill is 
shown at bottom right opposite Emmerson Mill Road ( now Spa Lane). The Fleece stands near the 
ƴŀƳŜ ά5ŀǾƛŘ 9ƳƳŜǊǎƻƴέ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƳŀǇΦ 
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      Ossett Inclosure Order 1813 Map (part) showing Spa Lane ownerships 

 

 

Whilst the 1790 and 1813 άmapsέ ŀǊŜ ǳǎŜŦǳƭ ƳŀǊƪŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŜŀ ŀƴŘ its development and land ownership, it is 
1850 before the first Ordnance Survey map is prepared and published. This is shown overleaf. It is however 
worth taking stock of how things were in the Spa area around 1800. The major feature at that time was 
9ƳƳŜǊǎƻƴΩǎ aƛƭƭ ǿƛǘƘ ƛǘǎ ŎǳǘǘƛƴƎ ŜŘƎŜ technology of the day taking advantage of the water flow from Spring 
Beck  (or Lights Beck) and elsewhere.  Mining was apparent with the Round House windmill pumping  Ossett 
Common Drain water from underground  coal seams. Evidence elsewhere suggests that Spa waters were 
beginning to emerge as an attraction to the area but residential accommodation was limited to a few houses 
mainly around Spring End and Spa Lane. There were good transport routes east and west via the important 
Wakefield Bridle Road (Manor Road/Baptist Lane) and south to Horbury and north along  the High Road (Teal 
Town Road) to Leeds at Lights Bridge (Haggs Hill Road). wƛŎƘŀǊŘ DƭƻǾŜǊΩǎ άaŜŘƛŜǾŀƭ ŀƴŘ tƻǎǘ aŜŘƛŜǾŀƭ 
[ŀƴŘǎŎŀǇŜ ƻŦ hǎǎŜǘǘ ¢ƻǿƴǎƘƛǇέ makes more reference to these and other  trade routes and the importance of 
the crossing of the Lights Beck (ie Spring Beck) at Lights Bridge (ƴƻǿ ǘƘŜ IŀƎƎǎ Iƛƭƭ wƻŀŘκ¢Ŝŀƭƭ /ƻǳǊǘ ΨƧǳƴŎǘƛƻƴΩύ. 
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                        1850 Ordnance Survey map showing the Ossett Low Common, The Spa and Spring End 

The 1850 map reflects signs of emerging development in the first 50 years of the 19
th

 century. Ginns Mill is 
shown to the north of The Fleece Inn and Ossett Spa is recorded,for the first time, on the north side of 
Emmerson Mill Road which now carries the name Spa Lane. Other buildings can be seen on land at the eastern 
end  of Spa Lane but they are not named in the map. It is likely these are dweliings and some may have been 
associated with the local spa baths which are established by 1850. A building is also shown at the western end 
of Spa Lane but there is no evidence of Spa Mills. Emmersons Mill is known as Spring End Mill and it has a 
chimney. Wells are recorded opposite the Fleece on the land which is now Whinfield Terrace and another Well 
is recorded at Spring End. Housing still appears to be sparse and is concentrated at Spring End and Spa Lane 
with only ²ƘƛƴŦƛŜƭŘ IƻǳǎŜ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ²ƻǊƪŜǊΩǎ Cottage appearing elsewhere. A building is shown to the north of 
Baptist Lane which maybe the Baptist Church.  
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  1890 Ordnance Survey Map Haggs Hill to Spring End including Low Common 
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By 1890 the Industrial Revolution is making its mark on Ossett Spa. There are now three 
mills and a dyeworks (Springfield Dyehouse south of Spa Mill) taking advantage of 
technology and the water supply from local springs and the Spring or Lights Beck which 
flows through the area. Emmerson Mill became Spring End Mill by 1850 and is now known 
as Spring Field Mills. It retains that name in 2010. Ginns Mill has become Hope Mill (Mungo).  
Others have also taken advantage of the local waters but the proposals to create a New 
Harrogate, Cheltenham or Montpelier Gardens have been and gone. However Spa House 
όŜŀǎǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊŘǎ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƳŀǇ άOssett Spa chalybeateέ) and the Spa baths remain and there 
are otheǊ ǊŜƳƛƴŘŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǿƘŀǘ ƳƛƎƘǘ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ƘŀŘ aŀǘǘƘŜǿ ²ƘŀǊǘƻƴΩǎ ǇǊƻǇƻǎŀƭǎ ŦƻǊ ŀ {Ǉŀ 
Town been successful. There is more of this elsewhere in this study. [Chalybeate waters, also 
known as ferruginous waters, are mineral spring waters containing salts of iron] 
 
The success of the Mills encouraged owners to provide accommodation for their workers. 
Dews Row (named after Edward Dews who built it) was opposite the Fleece Public House 
and to the west the rather grander Whinfield Terrace. This was also built by Spa Mill owner, 
Edward Dews, who could look out from his home at Whinfield House and proudly survey his 
work. Whinfield Terrace displays characteristics and ownership or tenancy by the more 
gentile members of society compared with those who lived at Dews Row and Spa Lane. One 
supposes that Edward Dews may have had an eye to the New Harrogate proposals a short 
distance away. Not at all bad for a Horbury born spinner turned grocer turned Mill, land and 
property owner.  
 
Further south at the junction of Spa Street and Spa Lane were more houses built on both sides of 
Spa Lane. Of course with the quality of the water supply being what it was there was little need for 
the usual alcoholic alternative but nevertheless the Spa Inn was constructed (about 1866) to provide 
some opposition to the long established and much older Fleece. Further south at Spring End the 
1890 map appears to show little change to the earlier 1850 map.  
 
The main focus of this study is Ossett Spa Mills but there is no sign of the Mills in the 1850 map and 
it seems likely that the Mill shortly afterwards. Certainly in 1859 Edward Dews was getting up to 
mischief on Westgate Common in Wakefield where, in 1861, he was a grocer but there is evidence of 
him at Ossett Spa shortly thereafter. The 1890 map shows an established Woollen Mill layout with  
frontage to Spa Lane. The Mill has its own reservoir at the south east point and there is another 
reservoir just over the Horbury boundary perhaps supplying the Dye House. There are other 
buildings between Spa Mill and Spa Street/Spring End Road. 
  
Other evidence suggests that much of the change in the landscape (Spa Mill, Whinfield Terrace Dews 
Row and probably the Spa Lane housing and   the Spa Inn itself) were probably constructed between 
the mid185лΩǎ- мутлΩǎ ŀƴŘ that Edward Dews had a hand, or an involvement, in the first three of 
these changes. There are two other features worthy of note. The Sewage Works and Filter Beds to 
the east of Spa Lane and the Baptist Chapel and Spa School to the north of Baptist Lane become 
established features in the landscape. 
 
 
²Ŝ ǿƛƭƭ ǇƛŎƪ ǘƘƛǎ ǳǇ ŀƎŀƛƴ ƭŀǘŜǊ ōǳǘ ŦƻǊ ƴƻǿ ǘƘŜ Ŧƛƴŀƭ ƳŀǇ άƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǎŜǊƛŜǎέ ƛǎ ǘƘŀǘ ƻŦ мфоо ŀƴŘ ǘƘƛǎ ƛǎ 
reproduced overleaf.  
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                                 1933 OS Map showing Ossett Spa and Spring End  
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The map shows development since 1890. The Mill footprint at Hope Mill (Mungo) remains 

much the same as it was in 1890 whereas the older Spring Field Mill (Mungo) now  has 

several extensions. Each Mill has its own reservoir to provide water in times of drought and 

perhaps to regulate the Spring Beck flow which must have been under pressure as the work of 

the Mills increased. Spring Field Dyehouse and the nearby reservoir are no longer shown. 

The Municipal Sewage Works and Filter Beds have undergone significant expansion and the 

works now extend onto land to the east of Spring Field Mill and further south towards Elba 

Terrace (built since 1890) 

 

 Ossett Spa Mill buildings appear to have largely survived though their use is unknown. A 

new long narrow building has appeared fronting on to Spa Lane. The reservoir remains but 

there have been other building changes within the site. 

 

The housing at the eastern end of Spa Lane remains as does the Spa Inn at the junction of Spa 

Lane and Spa Street. The Spa Inn licence expired in 1937. Further industrial development has 

taken place just to the north of Spa Lane where a Fellmongery (Illingworths) has been 

established fronting on to Spa Street.  Spa House and the Baths appear to have been 

demolished perhaps by Illingworths to accommodate their Fellmongery business. Further 

along Spa Lane, on the south side, a building is now shown which appears to be the house 

which stands there today (2010). A further building is shown in the position of the plot 

known as Timothy Lee Croft  at the very end of Spa Lane before it turns north and heads 

towards Manor Road. Further development has also taken place between the Fellmongers and 

Whinfield Terrace and whilst this appears to be housing it may be smaller commercial units. 

 

A house has been built on Spa Street toward the junction with Manor Road and Whinfield 

House appears to have been extended or perhaps divided into 3 units. At Spring End little has 

changed with the exception of the building of Elba Terrace and building work within the 

curtilage, to the northeast of, Spring End Cottage. 

 

And so to today (2010). Only Spring Field Mill has survived of all the Mills and even then 

little of the original buildings can be seen today.. Hope Mill has gone all together and scant 

evidence remains of  Ossett Spa Mill. Spring Field Dyehouse had been demolished before 

1933. 

 

The housing on Spa Lane (east end) and the Spa Inn were demolished in the 1950ôs/1960ôs as 

their lack of conveniences became less acceptable to occupants and the local authorities and 

as newer housing was  built on Manor Road and further north. Dews Row has also gone and 

newer industrial units have taken the place of older units, including the fellmongers. Spa 

House on Spa Lane, the home of the Goldsmiths and Rileys for so long as they maintained 

the baths, has been demolished by 1933.  Some housing has been built along Spa Street. 

 

But not all has gone. Whinfield Terrace remains and three features of the 1790 landscape still 

remain. Whinfield House (though it may be a different building), The Fleece, the workerôs 

cottage to the south of Baptist Lane. The Chalybeate Spa Well has also survived all that can 

be thrown at it.  
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The History of some landmarks at and near Ossett Spa 
 

 Little Ha rrogate  

Goring House, Ossett Common, once the home of Ossett author Stan Barstow, is virtually all that remains of an 
ambitious project at the end of the 19th century to develop part of Ossett Common as the "New Montpellier 
Pleasure Gardens", likened to a Little Harrogate by Batley Carr entrepreneur and former drugget 
manufacturer, Mathew Wharton. Goring House was built by an associate of Wharton's, John Tennant, a 
Dewsbury property developer and auctioneer who committed suicide in one of the bedrooms of Goring House 
in April 1888 after he also encountered severe financial difficulties.  

 

Above: Goring House, once the home of Ossett novelist Stan Barstow and also previously owned by John 
Tennant, Joe Bentley and Alfred Kilbank. For a while it was converted into two flats.  

Little Harrogate 
The little Harrogate scheme, to which Goring House stands a single memorial seems first to have been mooted 
in 1879. In January that year, the "Ossett Observer" reported: 

"It was informed on reliable authority that the first section of a project for transforming Ossett Spa into a 
second Harrogate, as a summer residence for visitors, is to be immediately carried out. Land has already been 
purchased, several acres in extent, and the services of an experienced architect engaged to lay out the same 

into sites for residences, boarding houses and other buildings of a public character. The 
whole of the streets are to be planted with trees in the continental style."  

New Montpellier Pleasure Grounds 
The lime trees, which still form avenues in Goring Park Avenue and the adjoining streets 
were planted in 1864, but advertising of the sites for villa residences "to be purchased 
over a period of six years on a quarterly installment plan" seems to have had no takers 
and only Goring House stands as a reminder of the ambitious scheme to develop this 
part of Ossett.  

In 1884, part of the Spa estate land was taken over by a Batley Carr manufacturer, 
Mathew Wharton, with the aim of developing it as the New Montpelier Pleasure 
Grounds with extensive gardens, a boating lake, rides and amusements.  

 




